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CHIEF GEOGRAPHER'S PLACE NAME SURVEY 

1905 -1909 

IX. PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND 

Alan Rayburn* 

The review of the Chief Geographer's Place Name 
Survey, 1905 -1909, was begun in CANOMA, Vol. 4, No. 1, 
July 1978, with an examination of circulars returned to 
James White from postmasters in British Columbia. 
Subsequently articles have been written about the letters 
received from postmasters in Alberta (Vol. 5, No. 1), 
Saskatchewan (Vol. 6, No. 2), Manitoba (Vol. 7, No. 1), 
Northern Ontario (Vol. 8, No. 1), Southwestern Ontario (Vol. 
9, No. 1), Central and Eastern Ontario (Vol. 10, No. 1) and 
Quebec (Vol. 10, No. 2). 

In the article on the circulars returned by 
Quebec's postmasters, it was stated that no letters were on 
file from Prince Edward Island postmasters. In fact, there 
are 162 letters on the ten 1:50 000 map sheet files relevant 
to Canada's smallest province. In 1905, there were 429 
named post offices to serve a population of 103 000. 

Among the characteristics of the P.E.I. returns are 
the excellent level of literacy and penmanship of many of 
the replies, perhaps a reflection of the importance of a 
good education in a society with strong Scottish roots. 
Several of the replies were two or more pages in length. 
The postmaster for Bay Fortune submitted five pages of 
detail on several names (Sailors Hope, Abe lls Cape, Rollo 
Bay and Eglinton, all in adjoining Lots 43 and 56), and the 
postmaster of Sinnotts Road listed the origins of 12 place 
names in Lots 38 and 39. 

The postmaster at St. Eleanore referred the Chief 
Geographer's request to Hubert G. Compton, who provided 
five pages on the naming of that particular suburb of 
Summerside. He noted that the community was named by 
his grandfather, Col. Harry Compton, for his only daughter, 
Eleanor. She lived at her father's residence, the Pavilion, in 
Lot 17 from 1804 to 1818, when the Colonel and Eleanor 
moved to Brittany in France. She died there in 1878. 

Alan Rayburn, formerly Executive Secretary of the 
Canadian Permanent Committee on Geographical 
Names; presently a research consultant in Nepean, 
Ontario. 

"She was possessed of ample means, the greater part she 
bequeathed to her niece Eleanor, sister of the writer, who 
occupies the Pavilion farm, that on which his grandfather 
first settled, is now in his 75 year. Youngest son and only 
remaining child of the late Major Thos C. Compton". 

The elaborate detail appears quite persuasive, but 
questions have arisen as to whether Col. Compton's 
daughter was really called Eleanor -- she may have been 
called Charlotte; and some references point to Col. 
Compton's housekeeper, Eleanor Sanksey, as the source of 
the name. 

In 1765, Samuel Holland named 191 features 
around the then "St. John's Island"; 92 of the names remain 
in official use. Some of the names he assigned were given 
erroneous origins by the postmasters in 1905, examples 

Hunter River, June 1909. 
R.W. Brock, Geological Survey of Canada 

(National Archives Canada, PA- 45217) 
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being Enmore, Montague and Vernon River. The most 
interesting example is Hunter River, which the 
postmasters of both Hunter River and Hazelgrove claimed 
was named for a Mr. Hunter, who died during a storm. In 
reality, the river was named by Holland for Thomas Orby 
Hunter, Lord of the Admiralty in 1761. The death of Fred 
Hunter some 50 years later may have coincidentally 
reintroduced the name for the river, since for many years in 
the 1800s the Scottish settlers had called it Clyde River. 
The idea that the name was connected to a particular local 
person even introduced the possessive form, Hunter's 
River, used for the post office from 1901 to 1967. The letter 
from the postmaster, J.H. Van Iderstine, provides 
extensive details on the man's death, and notes that the 

river flows into "Clyde or New Glasgow river ". However, the 
original application by Holland, of Hunter River for the 
watercourse from the village of Hunter River to North 
Rustico Harbour, is now both official and local usage. 

The postmaster of China Point, W.S.N. Crane, 
related the story that the place was named for a man called 
"Chaney ", and because the local people called China 
tableware "chaney ", the name of the point was spelled 
"China ". Mr. Crane stated that the " man referred to must 
have been an old French settler, but there is a possibility 
perhaps a strong one that the name is merely a corruption 
of the French word 'chene' (an oak) as the land on the point 
was covered with oak a generation or two ago ". 
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Prince Edward Island: showing communities for which details of replies to James White's circulars are discussed 
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The tale of the naming of Bear River, a small 
stream northeast of Souris, provides an example of an 
incident name. It is believed to have been in 1820 that 
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Roderick MacDonald single- handedly subdued a 600 
pound bear after, as the postmaster stated, a four -hour 
fight. 

Reply to circular concerning Bear River 
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The name Glencorradale, designating a small 
rural community 12 kilometres northeast of Souris, reveals 
much about Scottish history and oppression by 
authorities, as the letter from the postmaster in 1905 

outlines. The place in Scotland where Prince Charles hid 
out after the battle of Culloden in 1746 was Glen Caradal 
on the Isle of Skye. 
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Tignish harbour. In Notman's Photographic Series, Vol. IX, Montreal, 1910 

(National Archives Canada, C- 37554) 

Prince Edward Island has very few names of native 
origin, with less than 40 of its 2 200 names being either 
adaptations or translations of native names. One name of 
Micmac origin is Tignish, which the postmaster there 
explained meant "broken paddle ". The noted natural 
historian, W.F. Ganong, believed such naming to be 
uncharacteristic of the native people, and suggested that 
Tignish River (and Tidnish River on the New Brunswick - 
Nova Scotia boundary) really meant "straight across ", in 
reference to the direct entrance from the sea into the river. 

The postmaster of Souris, Marshal Paquet, 
recounted a story told to him by his father of an infestation 
of mice, which in the 1820s stripped the wheat and potato 
fields. The following year, a newly -arrived Catholic priest, 

Fr. Beaubien, banished the mice from the village. "The 
village which up to that time had been called Grand Haven 
or big Harbour was ever since called Souris which is the 
french for Mouse. I may say that this is no fable but the 
naked truth, there are Several person living here now that 
will Substatiate this Statement". There is no question that 
the area of Souris was frequently overrun by mice in the 
1700s and 1800s, but the name Havre à la Souris (on 
Bellin's map of 1744) may be a mistake name for Havre à 
l'Echouerie, "barred harbour". 

James White received a number of replies from 
postmasters in Nova Scotia. These circulars will be 
examined in Volume 15, Number 1. 
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